THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION

If you are in any doubt as to any aspect of this circular or as to the action to be taken, you should consult a licensed securities dealer, bank manager, solicitor, professional accountant or other professional adviser.

If you have sold or transferred all your shares in Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited, you should at once hand this circular together with the accompanying form of proxy to the purchaser or transferee or to the bank, licensed securities dealer or other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for transmission to the purchaser or transferee.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited take no responsibility for the contents of this circular, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this circular.



(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 276)

PROPOSALS FOR RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS, REFRESHMENT OF SHARE OPTION SCHEME LIMIT, GENERAL MANDATE TO ISSUE NEW SHARES, AND NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

A notice convening the annual general meeting of Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited to be held at 10th Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 25 August 2021 at 11: 00 a.m., at which a number of matters including the above proposals will be considered, is set out on pages 12 to 15 of this circular.

Whether or not you are able to attend the meeting in person, you are requested to complete the accompanying form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return the same to the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong, as soon as possible but in any event not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of such meeting or any adjournment thereof. Completion and return of the form of proxy shall not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the meeting or any adjournment thereof should you so desire.

CONTENTS

	Pages
DEFINITIONS	1
PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES FOR THE AGM	3
LETTER FROM THE BOARD	4
Introduction	4
Re-election of retiring Directors	5
Refreshment of Share Option Scheme Limit	5
General Mandate	8
Notice of AGM	8
Voting by poll	8
Closure of Register of members	8
Responsibility Statement	9
Recommendation	9
General	9
APPENDIX – PARTICULARS OF RETIRING DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION	10
NOTICE OF ANNUAL CENEDAL MEETING	12

DEFINITIONS

In this circular, unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

"2012 AGM" the annual general meeting of the Company held on 30 August

2012 approving, among others, the Share Option Scheme

"AGM" the annual general meeting of the Company to be held at 10th

Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 25 August 2021 at 11:00 a.m. or where the context so

admits, any adjournment thereof

"Board" the board of Directors

"Business Day(s)" has the meaning ascribed thereto under the Listing Rules

"Bye-laws" the bye-laws of the Company, as amended and supplemented from

time to time

"Company" Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited (stock code: 276), a

company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability, whose issued Shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

"Director(s)" the director(s) of the Company

"Group"

"General Mandate" a general mandate proposed to be granted to the Directors to

exercise all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with new Shares in the manner as set out in the Notice of AGM

"Hong Kong" the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People's

the Company and its subsidiaries

Republic of China

"Latest Practicable Date" 19 July 2021, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing

of this circular for ascertaining certain information in this circular

"Listing Rules" the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange

"Notice of AGM" the notice convening the AGM as set out on pages 12 to 15 of this

circular

"SFO" the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of

Hong Kong

DEFINITIONS

"Share(s)" ordinary share(s) of HK\$0.02 each in the share capital of the

Company

"Share Capital" the issued ordinary share capital of the Company

"Share Option Scheme" the existing share option scheme adopted by the Company on 30

August 2012

"Share Option Scheme Limit" The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon the

exercise of all share options granted or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company as permitted under the Listing Rules, being 10% of the Company's issued share capital as at the date of the approval of the Share Option Scheme or of the

refreshment of such limit

"Shareholder(s)" holder(s) of the Share(s)

"Stock Exchange" The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

"HK\$" Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

"%" per cent

PRECAUTIONARY MEASURES FOR THE AGM

Depending on the ongoing development of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic in Hong Kong, the Company will implement the following preventive measures at the AGM to protect all attendees from the risk of infection and all attendees are expected to comply with the following:

- (i) Compulsory body temperature checks will be conducted on every attendee at the entrance of the AGM venue. Any person with a body temperature of over 37.3 degrees Celsius will be denied entry into the AGM venue or be required to leave the AGM venue.
- (ii) All attendees are required to state whether (a) they have travelled outside of Hong Kong within the 14-day period immediately before the AGM; and (b) they have been subject to any Hong Kong Government prescribed quarantine or has close contact with any person under quarantine. Anyone who responds positively to any of these questions will be denied entry into the meeting venue or be required to leave the meeting venue.
- (iii) Every attendee is required to wear surgical face mask inside the AGM venue at all times, and to maintain a safe distance between seats.
- (iv) Every attendee shall submit a complete health declaration form before entering the AGM venue.

No refreshments will be served and there will be no corporate gifts.

The Company reserves the right to deny entry into the AGM venue or requires any person to leave the AGM venue at any time before and during the AGM in order to ensure the safety of the attendees at the AGM.

To the extent permitted under the laws of Hong Kong, the Company reserves the right to limit the number of attendees at the AGM venue. The number of attendees allowed in the AGM venue is subject to the requirements and restrictions under the Prevention and Control of Disease (Prohibition on Group Gathering) Regulation (Chapter 599G of the Laws of Hong Kong). The precautionary measures are subject to change.

Shareholders who would like to physically attend the AGM will be admitted to the AGM venue on a "first-come-first-served" basis.

In the interest of all stakeholders' health and safety and consistent with recent COVID-19 guidelines issued by the Government of Hong Kong, the Company reminds all Shareholders that physical attendance in person at the AGM is not necessary for the purpose of exercising voting rights. As an alternative, by using forms of proxy with voting instructions inserted, Shareholders may appoint the chairman of the AGM as their proxy to vote on the relevant resolutions at the AGM instead of attending the AGM in person.

MONGOLIA ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

(Stock Code: 276)

Executive Directors:

Mr. Lo Lin Shing, Simon (Chairman)

Ms. Yvette Ong (Managing Director)

Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei

Mr. Lo, Chris Cze Wai

Non-executive Director:

Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William JP

Mr. Lau Wai Piu

Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank

Registered office:

Clarendon House

Church Street

Hamilton HM 11

Bermuda

Head office and principal place

of business in Hong Kong:

17th Floor

118 Connaught Road West

Hong Kong

23 July 2021

To the Shareholders

Dear Sir or Madam,

PROPOSALS FOR RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS, REFRESHMENT OF SHARE OPTION SCHEME LIMIT, GENERAL MANDATE TO ISSUE NEW SHARES AND

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this circular is to give you details of the following proposals which, together with other ordinary businesses, will be proposed at the AGM for consideration and, where appropriate, approval by the Shareholders:

- (i) re-election of retiring Directors;
- (ii) refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Limit; and
- (iii) grant of the General Mandate.

The Notice of AGM is set out on pages 12 to 15 of this circular.

RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Yvette Ong, Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei and Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald shall retire from office by rotation at the AGM. All the retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM. Pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, the details of the above retiring Directors as required under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules are set out in the Appendix to this circular.

REFRESHMENT OF SHARE OPTION SCHEME LIMIT

At the 2012 AGM, an ordinary resolution was passed by the Shareholders to approve the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and the then Share Option Scheme Limit was 675,654,782 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the Share Capital as at the date of the passing of the relevant resolution. On 12 November 2014, the Company passed the special resolution to approve the four-to-one share consolidation, the Share Option Scheme Limit was thereby adjusted to 168,913,695 Shares. After the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme, the Share Option Scheme Limit had been refreshed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 August 2017. The Share Option Scheme Limit was refreshed to 188,125,849 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 25 August 2017. On 1 September 2017, the Company granted options to subscribe for 143,000,000 Shares, leaving the existing Share Option Scheme Limit balance at 45,125,849 Shares.

The Share Option Scheme Limit had been refreshed at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 August 2018. The Share Option Scheme Limit was refreshed to 188,125,849 Shares, representing 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the passing of the resolution. On 2 March 2020, the Company passed the special resolution to approve the ten-to-one share consolidation, the Share Option Scheme Limit was thereby adjusted to 18,812,584 Shares.

On 18 January 2021, the Company granted options to subscribe for 16,500,000 Shares, leaving the existing Share Option Scheme Limit balance at 2,312,584 Shares. As at the Latest Practicable Date, there were 30,400,000 outstanding share options granted and remaining unexercised since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme. Apart from the Share Option Scheme, the Company has no other share option scheme currently in force.

The Share Option Scheme Limit may be refreshed by obtaining approval of the Shareholders in general meeting provided that the refreshed limit shall not exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of approval of such limit. Options previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including those outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in accordance with the relevant scheme or exercised options) shall not be counted for the purpose of calculating the refreshed limit.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

Since the latest refreshment of Share Option Scheme Limit on 24 August 2018 and after taking into account of the adjustments due to the share consolidation and up to the Latest Practicable Date, the Company had granted share options carrying the rights to subscribe for 16,500,000 Shares to eligible

participants of the Share Option Scheme, of which 8,700,000 share options had been lapsed, no share option had been exercised or cancelled. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the number of outstanding share options under the Share Option Scheme was 30,400,000, representing approximately 16.16% of the total number of Shares of the Company in issue. Though the Board has no current intention to grant further options under the Share Option Scheme, unless the Share Option Scheme Limit is refreshed, options carrying the right to subscribe for up to only 2,312,584 Shares may be granted in the future, representing 1.23% of the Share Capital as at the Latest Practicable Date. Given that the Shares in issue were 188,125,849 as at the Latest Practicable Date, assuming no further issue or repurchase of Shares prior to the AGM, the Board proposes to refresh the 10% limit on grant of share options under the Share Option Scheme and the total number of Shares which may fall to be allotted and issued represents approximately 18,812,584 Shares.

Details of the movements in existing outstanding share options granted under the Share Option Scheme, since 9 September 2015 and up to the Latest Practicable Date are set out as follows:-

				Number of shares subject to options					
						Granted	Lapsed	Exercised	
						during	during	during	
						1 April	1 April	1 April	
						2020 to the	2020 to the	2020 to the	As at
		Exercise*			As at	Latest	Latest	Latest	the Latest
Name or category of	Date of	Price		Vesting	1 April	Practicable	Practicable	Practicable	Practicable
participants	Grant	HK\$	Exercise period	Period	2020	Date	Date	Date	Date
Name of Directors									
Mr. Lo Lin Shing, Simon	09-09-2015	2.510	09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020	N/A	1,700,000	-	(1,700,000)	-	-
	01-09-2017	2.260	01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022	N/A	1,800,000	-	_	-	1,800,000
	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	1,800,000	_	-	1,800,000
Ms. Yvette Ong	09-09-2015	2.510	09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020	N/A	500,000	-	(500,000)	-	-
	01-09-2017	2.260	01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022	N/A	1,000,000	-	_	-	1,000,000
	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	1,800,000	-	-	1,800,000
Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei	01-09-2017	2.260	01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022	N/A	1,500,000	-	-	-	1,500,000
	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	1,500,000	-	-	1,500,000
Mr. Lo, Chris Cze Wai	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	1,500,000	-	-	1,500,000
Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald	09-09-2015	2.510	09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020	N/A	300,000	-	(300,000)	-	-
	01-09-2017	2.260	01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022	N/A	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	500,000	-	-	500,000
Mr. Tsui Hing Chuen, William _{JP}	09-09-2015	2.510	09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020	N/A	300,000	-	(300,000)	-	-
	01-09-2017	2.260	01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022	N/A	500,000	-	_	-	500,000
	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	500,000	-	-	500,000
Mr. Lau Wai Piu	09-09-2015	2.510	09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020	N/A	300,000	-	(300,000)	-	-
	01-09-2017	2.260	01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022	N/A	500,000	-	_	-	500,000
	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	500,000	_	-	500,000
Mr. Lee Kee Wai, Frank	01-09-2017	2.260	01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022	N/A	500,000	-	-	-	500,000
	18-01-2021	1.310	18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A	-	500,000	-	-	500,000

14,900,000

Sub-total

Name or category of participants	Date of Grant	Exercise* Price HK\$	Exercise period	Vesting Period	Num As at 1 April 2020	ber of shares Granted during 1 April 2020 to the Latest Practicable Date	subject to opt Lapsed during 1 April 2020 to the Latest Practicable Date	Exercised during 1 April 2020 to the Latest Practicable Date	As at the Latest Practicable Date
Employees in aggregate (including directors of certain subsidiaries)	09-09-2015 01-09-2017 18-01-2021	2.510 2.260 1.310	09-09-2015 to 08-09-2020 01-09-2017 to 31-08-2022 18-01-2021 to 17-01-2026	N/A N/A N/A	1,500,000 7,700,000 -	- - 7,900,000	(1,500,000) - (100,000)	- - -	7,700,000 7,800,000
Sub-total									15,500,000
TOTAL					18,600,000	16,500,000	(4,700,000)	-	30,400,000

^{*} The number and exercise price of the options have been adjusted to reflect the share consolidation taking place in March 2020. Please refer to the Company's circular dated 7 January 2020 and announcements dated 2 March 2020 and 6 March 2020.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to the eligible persons for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group. Assuming all the present outstanding options and the options under the Share Option Scheme Limit to be refreshed have been granted and exercised, there will be an additional 49,212,584 Shares, representing 26.16% of the total number of Shares of the Company. By taking into the options previously granted and the possible dilution effect on the Shareholders, the Board considers that the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Limit will provide an effective incentive to enable the Group to retain its existing employees and to attract more high-calibre personnel in the expansion of its businesses under the challenging environment, and it is in the interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. In order to achieve the intended purpose of the Share Option Scheme for the benefits of the Group and the Shareholders, the Directors propose the passing of an ordinary resolution at the AGM for the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Limit.

The refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Limit is conditional upon:

- (a) the passing of an ordinary resolution to approve the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Limit by the Shareholders at the AGM; and
- (b) the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange granting the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares (representing a maximum of 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of the AGM approving the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Limit) which may fall to be issued pursuant to the exercise of share options under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company.

Application will be made to the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange for the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of share options granted or to be granted under the Share Option Scheme.

GENERAL MANDATE

The current general mandate granted to the Directors to issue Shares will expire at the conclusion of the AGM. In order to provide flexibility and discretion to the Directors to issue new Shares, an ordinary resolution will be proposed at the AGM to approve the granting of general mandate to the Directors to allot, issue and deal with new Shares of up to an amount not exceeding 20% of the Share Capital at the time of passing such resolution.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Share Capital of the Company comprised 188,125,849 Shares. Subject to the passing of the resolution to approve the General Mandate and on the basis that no further Shares are allotted and issued or repurchased prior to the date of the AGM, the Directors would be authorised to allot, issue and otherwise deal with a maximum of 37,625,169 new Shares under the General Mandate, representing 20% of the total number of the issued Shares as at the date of the AGM.

NOTICE OF AGM

The Notice of AGM is set out on pages 12 to 15 of this circular. A form of proxy for use at the AGM is also enclosed with this circular. Whether or not you are able to attend the AGM in person, you are requested to complete the form of proxy in accordance with the instructions printed thereon and return it to the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong, as soon as possible but in any event not later than 48 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the AGM. Completion and return of the form of proxy shall not preclude you from attending and voting in person at the AGM or any adjournment thereof should you so desire.

VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of the Shareholders at a general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman of such meeting, in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or administrative matter to be voted on by a show of hands. The chairman of the AGM will therefore put all resolutions to be proposed at the AGM to be voted by way of poll. An announcement on the results of the vote by poll will be made by the Company after the AGM in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules. None of the Shareholders is required to abstain from voting on the resolutions to be proposed at the AGM pursuant to the Listing Rules and/or the Bye-laws.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 20 August 2021 to Wednesday, 25 August 2021, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share

certificates must be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 19 August 2021.

RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

This circular, for which the Directors collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Listing Rules for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained in this circular is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this circular misleading.

RECOMMENDATION

The Board considers that the re-election of the retiring Directors, the refreshment of the Share Option Scheme Limit and the granting of the General Mandate are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. The Board recommends the Shareholders to vote in favour of all the proposed resolutions at the AGM.

GENERAL

Your attention is drawn to the additional information set out in the Appendix to this circular.

Yours faithfully
By Order of the Board
Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited
Tang Chi Kei
Company Secretary

PARTICULARS OF RETIRING DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION

The biographical and other details of the retiring Directors standing for re-election at the AGM are set out as below:

(1) MS. YVETTE ONG – EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ong, aged 56, has been an executive Director since September 1999 and was appointed as the Managing Director on 1 June 2012. She has over 30 years of managerial experience in the Asia-Pacific region. Prior to joining the Company, Ms. Ong was a managing director of AT&T EasyLink Services Asia Pacific Ltd. She holds an MBA degree in Management Information Systems and Marketing and a Bachelor degree in Finance and Management from the University of San Francisco. Ms. Ong is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. She is also an executive director of Vision Values Holdings Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange.

In 2010, Ms. Ong was censured by the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange for breach of the Rule 3.08(f) of the Listing Rules for failing to apply such degree of skill, care and diligence as may reasonably be expected of a person of her knowledge and experience and holding her office within the Company; and the Director's Undertaking: (i) to comply with the Listing Rules to the best of her ability; and (ii) use best endeavours to procure the Company's compliance with the Listing Rules.

Ms. Ong has not entered into any service contract with the Company. However, she has an agreement with a subsidiary of the Company, which is terminable by either party by giving to the other not less than three months' notice in writing. In addition, she is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws. Ms. Ong is entitled to a monthly remuneration of HK\$315,000 and discretion bonus, which is determined by reference to her duties and responsibilities with the Company, subject to review by the Board from time to time. Save as aforesaid, she has not had other forms of remuneration.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Ms. Ong (i) has interests in 27,250 Shares, representing approximately 0.01% of the Share Capital and (ii) held the share options granted by the Company to subscribe for 2,800,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, Ms. Ong had no or deemed to have interest in any Shares or underlying Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

(2) MR. LO, REX CZE KEI ("MR REX LO") – EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Rex Lo, aged 39, was appointed as a non-executive Director in October 2016 and was redesignated as an Executive Director in February 2018. He has over 10 years of experience in property business and general management. Mr. Rex Lo holds a Master of Science in Electronic Commerce and Internet Computing and a Bachelor of Science in Business Administration. He is the son of Mr. Lo Lin Shing, Simon, the chairman and executive Director of the Company, and the brother of Mr. Lo, Chris Cze Wai, an executive director of the Company. Mr. Rex Lo is a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He is also an executive director of Vision Values Holdings Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange.

PARTICULARS OF RETIRING DIRECTORS STANDING FOR RE-ELECTION

Mr. Rex Lo has not entered into any service contract with the Company and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws. He is entitled to a monthly remuneration of HK\$50,000 and discretion bonus, which is determined by reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, subject to review by the Board from time to time. Saved as aforesaid, Mr. Rex Lo has not had other forms of remuneration.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Rex Lo held the share options granted by the Company to subscribe for 3,000,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. Rex Lo had no or deemed to have interest in any Shares or underlying Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

(3) MR. TO HIN TSUN, GERALD - NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. To, aged 72, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director in August 1999 and was re-designated as a Non-executive Director in October 2000. Mr. To has been a practising solicitor in Hong Kong since 1975. He is also qualified as a solicitor in the United Kingdom, as well as an advocate and solicitor in Singapore. Mr. To is a non-executive director of NWS Holdings Limited which is listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. To has not entered into any service contract with the Company and is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws. He is entitled to a remuneration of HK\$100,000 per annum, which is determined by reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company, subject to review by the Board from time to time. Save as aforesaid, Mr. To has not had other forms of remuneration.

As at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. To (i) has interests in 135,000 Shares, representing approximately 0.07% of the Share Capital and (ii) held the share options granted by the Company to subscribe for 1,000,000 Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed above, as at the Latest Practicable Date, Mr. To had no or deemed to have interest in any Shares or underlying Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, each of the retiring Directors does not have any relationships with any Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company; each of them did not hold any directorships in any other listed public companies in the last three years immediately prior to the Latest Practicable Date. In addition, there is no other information concerning the retiring Directors that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders nor any information required to be disclosed pursuant to any of the requirements of the provisions under Rule 13.51(2)(h) to 13.51(2)(v) of the Listing Rules.

MONGOLIA ENERGY CORPORATION LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(Stock Code: 276)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the annual general meeting of Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited (the "Company") will be held at 10th Floor, United Centre, 95 Queensway, Admiralty, Hong Kong on Wednesday, 25 August 2021 at 11:00 a.m. to transact the following ordinary businesses:

- 1. To receive and consider the audited financial statements and the reports of the directors and independent auditor of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.
- 2. (a) To re-elect Ms. Yvette Ong as an executive director.
 - (b) To re-elect Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei as an executive director.
 - (c) To re-elect Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald as a non-executive director.
 - (d) To authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix the directors' remuneration.
- 3. To re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as independent auditor of the Company and to authorise the board of directors of the Company to fix its remuneration.

By way of special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass the following ordinary resolutions, with or without modification:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

4. THAT subject to and conditional upon the listing committee of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock Exchange") granting the listing of and permission to deal in the shares of the Company to be issued upon the exercise of options which may be granted under the Company's share option scheme adopted by the Company on 30 August 2012 (the "Share Option Scheme"), the existing scheme mandate limit in respect of the granting of options to subscribe for shares of the Company under the Share Option Scheme be refreshed and renewed provided that the total number of shares of the Company which may be allotted and issued pursuant to the grant or exercises of the options under the Share Option Scheme (excluding options previously granted, outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or exercised under the Share Option Scheme) shall not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue as at the date of passing this resolution (the "Refreshed Limit") and that the Directors be and are hereby authorized, subject to compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, to grant options under the Share Option Scheme up to the Refreshed Limit and to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with shares of the Company pursuant to the exercise of such options and to do such acts and execute such documents for or incidental to such purpose.

5. **THAT:**

- (a) subject to the following provisions of this resolution, the exercise by the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period (as defined below) of all the powers of the Company to allot, issue and deal with additional shares of the Company, and to make or grant offers, agreements or options (including bonds, notes, warrants, debentures and securities convertible into shares of the Company) which would or might require the exercise of such powers be and is hereby generally and unconditionally approved;
- (b) the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution shall authorise the directors of the Company during the Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and options (including bonds, notes, warrants, debentures and securities convertible into shares of the Company) which would or might require the exercise of such powers after the end of the Relevant Period;
- (c) the aggregate nominal amount of share capital of the Company allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) and issued by the directors of the Company pursuant to the approval in paragraph (a) of this resolution, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a Rights Issue (as defined below); (ii) an issue of shares pursuant to any existing specific authority, including upon the exercise of rights of subscription or conversion under the terms of any warrants issued by the Company or any bonds, notes, debentures or securities convertible into shares of the Company; (iii) the exercise of options granted under any share option scheme(s) adopted by the Company; and (iv) any scrip dividend scheme or similar arrangement providing for the allotment of shares of the Company in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend on shares of the Company in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company, shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of passing this resolution; and the said approval should be limited accordingly; and
- (d) for the purposes of this resolution:

"Relevant Period" means the period from the date of passing this resolution until whichever is the earliest of:

- (i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;
- (ii) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by the bye-laws of the Company or any applicable laws of Bermuda to be held; or
- (iii) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this resolution by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general meeting; and

"Rights Issue" means an offer of shares open for a period fixed by the Directors of the Company made to holders of shares whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on a fixed record date in proportion to their then holdings of such shares as at that date (subject to such exclusions or other arrangements as the directors of the Company may deem necessary or expedient in relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of, any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, or in any territory outside, Hong Kong).

By Order of the Board

Mongolia Energy Corporation Limited

Tang Chi Kei

Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 23 July 2021

Registered office: Clarendon House Church Street Hamilton HM 11 Bermuda

Head office and principal place of business in Hong Kong: 17th Floor, 118 Connaught Road West Hong Kong

Notes:

- 1. Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the meeting convened by the above notice is entitled to appoint another person(s) as his/her proxy to attend and, on a poll, vote instead of him/her. In the case of a recognised clearing house, it may authorise such person(s) as it thinks fit to act as its representative(s) at the meeting and vote in its stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.
- 2. In order to be valid, the form of proxy, together with a power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which it is signed or a notarially certified copy of that power or authority must be deposited at the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong as soon as possible and in any event, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting or any adjournment thereof.
- 3. Where there are joint holders of any share, any one of such holders may vote at the meeting, either in person or by proxy, in respect of such share as if he/she was solely entitled to vote, but if more than one of such joint holders be present at the meeting in person or by proxy, the person so present whose name stands first in the register of members of the Company in respect of such share shall alone be entitled to vote in respect of it. Completion and return of the form of proxy shall not preclude a member from attending the meeting and voting in person at the meeting or any adjourned meeting if he/she so desires. If a member attends the meeting after having deposited the form of proxy, his/her form of proxy shall be deemed to have been revoked.

- 4. The register of members will be closed from Friday, 20 August 2021 to Wednesday, 25 August 2021, both dates inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all transfers should be lodged with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road East, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 19 August 2021.
- 5. The Directors who will retire are Ms. Yvette Ong, Mr. Lo, Rex Cze Kei and Mr. To Hin Tsun, Gerald. Separate resolutions will be proposed for their re-election.
- 6. Each of the resolutions set out in this notice will be voted on by poll.
- 7. If typhoon signal no. 8 or above remains hoisted or a black rainstorm warning signal is in force at 8:00 a.m. on the date of the annual general meeting, the meeting will be postponed. Details of alternative meeting arrangements will be published on the Company's website (www.mongolia-energy.com) and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited's website (http://www.hkexnews.hk) in due course.

The annual general meeting will be held as scheduled when an amber or a red rainstorm warning signal is in force. Shareholders should make their own decision as to whether they would attend the meeting under the bad weather conditions bearing in mind their own situation and if they should choose to do so, they are advised to exercise care and caution.

Shareholders who have any queries concerning the alternative meeting arrangements, please call the Customer Service Hotline of Tricor Standard Limited at telephone number (852) 2980 1333 from 9:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday to Friday (excluding public holidays).